

















Centennial Takes Flight: The First 50 Years

Sense

O 1 m e by Nora Mancha, past faculty (1978-2002)

Potomac School in
Washington, DC

¢ the end of the 19* century and well into

the 1900s many of Washington’s oldest

families lived in elegant, understated
brownstones surrounding Lafayette Park and the
neighborhoods nearby. These were the Washington
residents who traced their family roots to colonial
times and whose younger generations continued to
hold prominent positions in government and in the
professional life of the city. Edith Draper Blair,
Hetty Fairfax Harrison, and Ellen Warder Thoron,
the foundets of Potomac School, belonged to three
of those establishment families. While the three
women moved with ease in the social life of old
Washington, they shared a serious interest in hap-
penings beyond it.

Well-educated themselves, they were in search of
the most promising among new methods for teach-

ing young children.

Interest in eatly childhood education had emerged
in the United States as a by-product of changes in
the workplace. Beginning in the 1880s, the promise
of the Industrial Revolution had drawn thousands
of women into factory work, and the number of
young children left unattended alarmed social
workers across the country. The plight of these
children had, in turn, sparked national interest in
the work of John Dewey and Maria Montessord
who in the 1900s were separately developing and
testing teaching models applicable to kindergarten
and primary schools. In 1837 German educator
Friedrich Froebel had opened the first kindergarten
or “children’s garden” to model a childhood educa-

tion that would begin much earlier than was cus-
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tomary in Europe and would focus primatily on children’s
ability to learn through play. The “kindergarten move-
ment,” initially took hold in Ametica as a solution for the
neglected children of the poor, but its fundamental princi-
ples attracted educators at every economic level. Before
the decade ended, the pedagogical tenets of Dewey and
Montessori, while not identical, had been lumped together
under the banner of “progressive education” and both
methods were being enthusiastically embraced in public
and private schools in every part of the country. A suc-
cessful progressive education was intended to build upon
the natural interest of children in exploring everything
around them. It emphasized discovery both in the class-
room and out of doors, setting daily life experiences above
traditional dependence on class recitation and rote drill
Art, music, and playtime were advocated as essential ele-
ments in learning rather than unwelcome breaks in class-
room routine. Most importantly, a progressive program
sought to create a social community by reminding children

of their responsibility as members of a group.

At the turn of the century, Edith Blair and her husband,
William Montgomery Blair moved their growing family
from Blair House on Lafayette Square to their country
property, Falkland, in Silver Spring, Maryland. At the
Falkland house, Mrs. Blair began teaching the oldest four
of her children in a small nursery setting. Mrs. Harrison
and Mrs. Thoron traveled to New York to observe kindet-
garten and primary classes at the Chapin and the Horace

Mann Schools, both successful in their adoption of educa-
tional practices advocated by John Dewey. The young
women hoped to introduce those same practices in a new
school they would open for their children and the children
of friends.

In 1904, probably in the spring or eatly summer, Mrs.
Harrison, Mrs. Blair and Mrs. Thoron rented two floors of
a building at 6 Dupont Circle where they intended to open
The Potomac School. At first the school would offer one
section each of kindergarten, transition, and primary lev-
els. Recognizing the need for well-known educators to
support the endeavor, the founders asked Harrier Niel,
director of Washington’s Phebe Hearst Kindergarten
College, and Vitgil Hillyer, head of the Calvert School in
Baltimore, to oversee the development of the

curriculum and
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the hiring of the first faculty. A four-page leaflet announc-
ing the school’s opening clearly stated its philosophy: “The
Potomac School has been organized to meet 2’ demand for
a school in Washington in which modern educational
methods shall be devoted to young children. The course of
study in all the classes will be broad, the methods of teach-
ing modern and progressive, but special attention will be
given to thoroughness in the three fundamentals of read-
ing, writing and arithmetic. Great care is being given to the
selection of a house in perfect sanitary condition, with
large, airy rooms and a sunny playground, also near a

park where the children can go to play accompanied by

a teacher.”

The area around Dupont Circle was already one of
Washington’s most fashionable neighborhoods when
the founders chose it for their school. The play space
promised in the school’s brochure was Dupont Circle
itself, which the children reached by crossing the trol-
ley tracks surrounding it. The circle’s name had been
changed from Pacific Circle to Dupont Circle in the
1880s when Delaware’s DuPont family commis-
sioned a statue there in honor of their Civil War rel-
ative Admiral Samuel Francis DuPont. In the years
following the Civil War, an interesting mix of newly
rich mine owners and wealthy businessmen moved
to the area, razed existing houses along streets con-
verging on the circle, and replaced them with
astoundingly large and opulent mansions. In the
view of old-money Washington, all the worst fea-

— Kindergarten,
third year, fourth
year were added
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tures of lately acquired prosperity were embodied in one
of the newcomers, immigrant Irishman Thomas Walsh. In
1902 Walsh, having discovered gold in Colorado, settled
his family in a 60 room house at 2020 Massachusetts
Avenue, just off the circle. Walsh’s danghter Evalyn alter-
nately horrified and fascinated Washington society with
her gaudy display of wealth. Through a combination of
funds and audacity, Evalyn managed to achieve the status

of Washington debutante. In 1908 she eloped with
Washington Post heir Ned McLean. The line separating
the city’s old and new money began to give way

Hall and Helen Briffin (i
Tth grade, the highest grade a?PtlJr;u(nng :ta ltf}.’::ggrgd
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slightly when some of Evalyn’s worst crifics overcame
their disdain and accepted invitatons to the couple’s
Sunday brunches. Up to 200 guests who would never be
seen together elsewhere in Washington, regularly mingled
on the Mclean’s front porch to enjoy a lavish meal and

entertainment by a full orchestra.

It was to this lively neighborhood that The Potomac
School’s three teachers welcomed 47 students on October
17, 1904. The slim brochure describing the school was as
explicit about its intended enrollment as its philosophy:
“The School will be purely elementary and is intended for
boys and gitls between the ages of four and twelve. By
natural progression a higher grade will be added each
year, until the full number is reached with twelve-year
children, who will then be considered prepared for

advanced work elsewhere.” The school

utside Potomac’s {8th and M Street lacation.

A group of students @

year was to finish for the summer at the end of the third
week in May. Classes met from 9:15 a.m. to 1:00 p.m. with
some vatiation depending on the age of the children.
Tuition was set at $80 in the kindergarten and rose to
$150 for the second section of the primary class. Summer
rent for the building was paid through the establishment
of “Subscribers to the Guaranty Fund,” a group of 11
women who, together with the founders, covered costs
whenever school was not in session. The length of the
school year was dictated by Washingtons unbearable
summer weather. Any family that could leave the city
chose to do so before the heat took hold. In 1904,
Dupont Circle marked the upper edge of a city rapidly
increasing in population, dirt, and noise. Beyond the city
limits, to the north, lay the open fields and summer hous-
es in Silver Spring, Across the Potomac River and a
wagon or automobile ride to the west were the dusty
crossroads of McLean, Virginia, where clusters of cot-
tages overlooking the River offered the promise of relief
from the heat.

Just two years after its founding and with enrollment
growing, the school began a search for larger space. In
1906 preparations began to move to a building just south
of the circle at 1200 18th Street at the corner of 18th and
M Streets. Perhaps the founders had heard that a school
for girls older than those at Potomac was about to open
just around the corner at 1326 and 1328 19th Street. An
advertisement in the Evening Star on August 19, 1906,

0n March 1 the School
_ was incorparated in the
District as “The Potomac
School” under a Board of

Trustees, a self-perpetuat-
ing hady consisting of moth-
ers of children in the School
or recently graduated.

[8TH & M STREETS
LB
iz



Madeira's
Schoal in

) 1906, became
the first pro-
fessional head

carried an ad for the new school describing it as, “A select
Home and Day School for a limited number of girls” An
accompanying article noted that Miss Lucy Madeira, who
was to head the new school, intended to “make prepara-
tdon for college its chief business. In doing this, the
endeavor will be to keep the number of instructors so
large in proportion to the number of pupils that each
pupil may be handled as an individual and not as one of a

2

class.” Miss Madeira, educated at Vassar College, had
taught at Sidwell Friends School for nine years before leav-
ing to start her own school. Enrollment had been precari-
ously slow at the outset, but increased as fall approached.
In October of 1906 “Miss Madeira’s
School” opened with 13 boarding and 15

day students.

Whatever the reason for it, Potomac’s
choice of the 18th Street location proved
to be of benefit to both Potomac and to
Madeira. The strong beginning on Dupont
Circle with the youngest children, and the
prospect of adding grades in successive
years, led The Potomac School founders
to consider the placement of the stu-
dents beyond the elementary level. A
casual working arrangement was already
easing the transfer of the boys who
would leave Potomac to enter fourth

grade at a local public school or at the

Lucy Madeira, — Eighth grade was added for girls. many of wham
_ wha had : Kate May Estey attended Madzira after graduating fram Potomac.
founded Miss served as head
mistress fram
810 wntil 1920.—

of Potomac
through (910
and chairman
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all-boys’, St. Albans School. The opening of Miss
Madeira’s School around the corner from Potomac’s new
location suggested that a seamless transition to the upper
grades might now be possible for the gitls as well. Miss
Madeira, in turn, could not have forgotten the first uncer-
tain months when she had raken out ads in the paper to
attract students. Now almost every girl at Potomac could
be counted on as a future student at “Miss Madeira’s
School.”

An even more fortuitous arrangement emerged from steps
taken by Potomac’s founders in 1907 to legally incorporate
the school in the District of Columbia. The appointment

of an experienced teacher as its

May Day festival in Mrs. Kent's garden at 125 F Stregt in [9)5
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Several years before the school negotiated its move to
California Street, Ellen Thoron had divorced Ward
Thoron and moved to Colorado with her three children.
She later remarried and with her husband, Henry
Leonard, resettled in Washington. Although tes to the
school she founded had grown somewhat tenuous, Mrs.
Leonard always retained an affectionate interest in its
development. She was the only surviving founder alive at
the 50th anniversary of the school and on that occasion
spoke warmly of the early days: “As I looked at the
Potomac School a few days ago I felt T was looking at the
growth of a grain of mustard seed. Fifty years ago the
school was almost as small as that and to start it was cer-
tainly an act of faith. I don’t remember now whether the
founding of the School was a whirlwind campaign of a
few wecks or something that took months of planning, 1
do remember trips to New York to interview teachers and
to consult with Miss Maria Chapin, and going about
among our friends in Washington asking them to con-
tribute toward the equipping of a modern school such as
we envisioned. As I look at the school today, T am stll
astonished that . . . young women of about 30 should
have conceived an idea which has grown into this splen-
did vital school. . . .”

Many years later a faculty member would describe the
school on California Street as “typit:';ll of the mid-Teddy
Roosevelt style of architecture. The builder had captured
very shrewdly the character of the man for whom he
designed it: forthright, solid, four square, and no non-
sense. It was an unlikely structure to house a school for
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young children, especially a school which placed primary
emphasis on the creativeness of childhood.”

However “unlikely” the building may have seemed, it
endeared itself to three decades of children and teachers.
Over the years a series of additions to the original build-
ing prevented anything as ordinary as classtooms lining
corridors. Instead, the awkward and oddly shaped class-
rooms that resulted from expansion efforts only added to
its magic. The unusual double staircase leading to the
gymnasium floor became, at Christmas time, the perfect
perch for a chorus of angels. A tiresome climbing of the
stairs on one side of the building, crossing over the upper
floot, and descending the stairs on the far side was the
only way to get from one part of the school to the other
without interrupting gym classes. But even that trek,
described simply as “up, over, and down,” became part of
the cherished mythology of the place.

School records from the period touched on public events
when they directly affected the school’s day to day opera-
tion. Before school was underway on California Street, the
trustees met on October 6, 1916, to consider what they
could do to protect the children during the country’s first
serious outbreak of infantile paralysis. They were particu-
larly concerned about children who might be returning to
school after vacatoning in New York, where more than
9,000 cases of the disease had been reported. In some

cities across the country, visitors from highly contagious

areas were forcibly turned away by armed citizens. The

Charlotte Wiggin
became head of schaol,
serving through 1925,




City of Washington was pursuing less drastic means for
controlling the disease, but its threat was no less frighten-
ing. The trustees decided at the meeting “to require that
[Potomac] children entering Washington remain away
from the morning session for two weeks and that every-
thing possible be done to instruct these children at home.”
At their next meeting the trustees lifted the quarantine, but
determined to “use our discretion about receiving children
from infected districts.” The threat of contagion subsided
with the arrival of cooler weather, and later that month full

classes were able to meet for the first time at the new site.

The Women’s Suffrage Movement also attracted the
trustees’” attention. The movement, greatly strengthened
since its first modest efforts in the 1880s, had become
increasingly bold in agitating for women’s right to vote.
Women picketing in front of the White House in support
of the cause did so with the clear understanding that they
would likely be arrested. If they refused to pay fines, they
risked spending time in jail. Among the arrested protesters
on at least one occasion was a Potomac trustee whose
name does not appear in the board minutes but whose
behavior caused considerable debate among her cohotts.
Perhaps more outraged by the embarrassment of the
arrest than unsympathetic to its cause, one shocked trustee
sent a letter to the chairman of the board calling for the
suffragette’s dismissal. After a period of unease about how
best to deal with the situation, the chairman asked the let-
ter writer to withdraw her complaint. In response, the
writer herself resigned from the board; the marcher

appears to have carried on both as a trustee and a protester.

A terrifying epidemic of influenza swept through coun-
tries around the wotld in 1918 and eatly 1919. Worldwide,
44 million people were estimated to have died. In the
United States deaths from the flu reached 675,000 — killing
more Americans in a few months than were lost to battle
during the war years. The death toll was devastatingly high
among 20 and 30 year olds, but for reasons never undet-
stood, lower among older adults and very young children.
In Washington, the first flu cases appeared in late

A third floor
(replacing Florance
Court) was built —
over the California
Street gym to house
an art room and
eighth-grade class-
room also used as a
SCiENce room.
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September 1918. Through October severe measures put in
place to curb the epidemic included the closing of schools,
government offices, libraries, and playgrounds. Public gath-
erings of any kind were strictly forbidden. At the beginning
of November and for the rest of the year, the number of
new cases declined slightly only to rise again in the early
months of 1919. The relatively few deaths reported among
children across the country and the small enrollment of the
School may account for the fact that only brief references to
the epidemic appeared in Potomac’s board minutes. Among
routine mention of mumps, measles, and scarlet fever were
two sentences noting that one child was home with the flu,

and another had returned to class.

The firm and steady leadership of Miss Estey throughout
the decade allowed the school to mature and prosper. In
1921 when she resigned her position as principal of the
school, the trustees asked Miss Estey to remain as a member
of the board, an unusual move and a mark of thé board’s
respect for her personal and administrative abilities.
Following her death in 1928, the trustees established an
assistance fund for teachers in her name and installed a
memorial plaque at the school. It reads:
Kate May Estey, teacher and principal, 1904-1920. Gifted
with vision judgement and patience, she moulded the
school from its beginnings and through her character and

devotion brought to the children larger life and happiness.

Evalina Pierce took over headship of the school in the fall
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of 1920 and served in that position until the close of
school in 1927. She oversaw an expansion of the
California Street building with the addition of a kinder-
garten room, a gym/assembly room, and the enlargement
of the playground area. By coincidence, her appointment
as head of the school began at the outset of the Harding
administration with its promise to return the country to
“normalcy.” In response to a more conservative political
trend, the word “progressive” disappeared from much
popular writing, and the once enthusiastic pursuit of pro-
gressivism lost much of its appeal. In education John
Dewey’s methodology, whether as a result of mishandling
by its practitioners or misinterpretation of its tenets, came

under increased criticism.

Katherine Graham, in her autobiography Personal History,
gave a description of her childhood school experiences in
1920 Washington, first in a Montessori school and later at
Potomac. A sharp comparison is drawn between the two

schools:

“I began my education in a Montessoti school, where we
were encouraged to pursue our own interests at our own
rate-in other words, to do the things we liked most to do
whenever we wanted to. At the age of 8, I entered the
fourth grade at The Potomac School, only two blocks
from our house. Potomac was a private conventional
grammar school, and so I went from a free-form, permis-
sive society to a completely structured school

where the desks were in rows, the school day

The School cel-
ebrated its
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sary and pub-

Years, 1504-
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Schaal- Thirty school

was programmed, there was homework.”

The school described by Mrs. Graham as “conventional”
and “completely structured” may have been so only in
contrast to the school she had left. It is possible, on the
other hand, that Dewey’s educational vision, so eagetly
embraced at Potomac in 1904, was modified in the 1920s
when much of progressive educaton was under attack.
Potomac was undoubtedly attempting to avoid a criticism
leveled at progressive schools when it took pains, in one of
its publications from that period, to endorse the teaching
methods adopted at the school’s founding, then to add, as
if in afterthought, “the school, however, is not experimental.”
In 1932, in reply to ongoing controversy surrounding pro-
gressive teaching methods, Miss Madeira offered a per-
spective on John Dewey’s work: “Even at the present day,

those who

— Caraol
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are inclined to look upon progressive education with some
... distrust cannot fail to realize that it is a movement of
very great value to educational processes in general, and
that it is a most significant phase in the development of

educational ideals and methods.”

Following the resignation of Miss Pierce in the spring of
1927, Charlotte Wiggin was named principal. Her unhappy
two-year tenure at the school was marked by recurring
conflicts with the board of trustees who found her person-
al manner abrupt and her resistance to accepting advice
unsettling, Particularly troubling was Miss Wiggin’s reac-
tion to board inquiries about school finances. Confronted
with questions about her spending,
Miss Wiggin made the probably fatal
error of suggesting that if the trustee
chairing the finance committee were
replaced, all problems would go
away. No amount of discussion and
intervention by one or another of
the board members seemed to end
the dissension. Eventually, the facul-
ty was drawn into the fray in a quar-
rel over salaries. In the spring of
1929, Miss Wiggin was dismissed.
Her replacement was Dorothea ‘
Stillman who filled the position of
principal for the next nine years.

In a report dated January 6, 1932, the
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finance committee produced a detailed retrospective of
the school’s financial condition reaching back to 1916.
Quite pointedly, no mention was made of Miss Wiggin.
“The school, of course, has been successful through hav-
ing had Miss Estey, Miss Pierce, and Miss Stillman as prin-
cipals, all women who have carefully watched the expendi-
tures and who have used the income from the school to
increase salaries in preference to spending it for non-essen-
tial equipment.” Dorothea Stllman was a graduate of
Vassar College and Columbia University graduate school.
Her work at Potomac began in early October 1929, just
days before the stock market crash, and her nine-year term

at Potomac covers one of the most difficult financial peri-

ods in the school’s history.

— Ninth

grade was
re-intro-
duced for







ting the original building

from the 1949 Potomac School Yearbook depic
on the Mclean property.

Image

continued to express confidence in the school’s financial
position and suggested that purchase of property on

' Phelps Place should be pursued if it were to come on the
market. Considering the slippage in the country’s econom-
ic state, the closing sentence of the report could be con-
strued either as “whistling in the dark™ or as a calculated
effort to maintain morale in the school community: “We
believe that if the policy of the past is continued, if salary
increases and expenditures are only made as income justi-
fies, and if a net profit of $3,000 is invested, the financial
security of the school is assured.”

It fell to Miss Stillman to guide the school through the
next five years of disappointing news. Beginning as eatly
as the fall of 1932, school enrollment fell, and the short-
fall in income was made up from the profits that only
months earlier were being considered as the means of pur-
chasing new property. The high school, in operation for
only two years, was struggling. The trustees continued to
support it until the end of the 1932-33 academic year, and
then the experiment was reluctantly abandoned. Teachers’
salaries were reduced by 10 percent in a new, more “flexi-
ble” contract put into effect for the 1933-34 school year.
The same flexible contract allowed salaries to be reduced
by a further 10 percent in the contract offered for the fol-
lowing year, 1934-35.

Difficulties worsened all through that school year. Surplus
funds in the school bank accounts had by then been
depleted, and the board of trustees covered that year’s ini-
tial deficit using funds from investments. Subsequent
deficits were covered by “drastic reorganization” of the
teaching staff, changes in personnel, and longer work
hours. In the 1935-36 school year, partial tuition scholar-
ships were offered so that at least some income would be
realized by filling seats that otherwise would have been
empty. Reflecting on the optimism of her predecessor
who four years eatlier wrote that the school expected to
have a surplus of at least $3,000 for investment, the trustee
chairing the finance committee in 1936 remarked wistfully,
“A net profit of at least $3,000 a year seems to the present

committee the height of affluence.”

By February.
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Madeira who had known Miss Preston as a Madeira stu-
dent and graduate of the class of 1915. This was power-
ful support indeed, and in the summer of 1938 one of the
Potomac trustees phoned Albuquerque to ask Miss
Preston to visit the school. Miss Preston had a convetsa-
tion with Miss Madeira and was interviewed for the posi-
tion as head of school by the chairman of the board and
by Mrs. Blair who was still active in school life at Potomac.
Miss Preston was offered the position as head of school
during that visit to Washington.

Nothing should have been more comforting to the
Potomac trustees than to hire as head of school a leader
who had been a student of Miss Madeira. This was a tie
to the beginning of Potomacs own history. Here was

someone who would appreciate the school in a way that

no other head of school since Miss Estey could
possibly have done, for both of them — Miss
Preston and Miss Estey — had experienced, in
different ways, Miss Madeira’s strong influence as

an educatot.

Miss Preston never lost the confidence placed in
her by the trustees. As no other of her predeces-
sors, she took command of the school with such a
sure and steady hand that at last the board felt free
to adopt a position of oversight rather than one of
neat-daily participation in decision-making,
Nonetheless, in the beginning she had good reason

CALIFORNIA STREET
vy ]
cCol
=
- e

to remind herself of Miss Madeira’s injunction that one
must learn to “function in disaster.” The Depression was
not over, enrollment was down to 130 students, and
repairs at the school had been neglected for most of the
previous decade. Miss Preston called on Helen Seth-
Smith to help her. She started as head of the House
Department and went on to become assistant head of
school. In later years both looked back fondly on their
first difficult days: “What a challenge! One well worth tak-
ing we thought, for in terms of people, principles and
ideas, the school was superior. So we rolled up our sleeves

and plunged in.”

Miss Preston and Miss Seth-Smith brought different but
complementary gifts to the school. Miss

ut trogp camps in the spring of |
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Preston wo-uld have chosen if she could to spend all of
her time with the children, but in het role as a school head
she revealed a new set of strengths. She built a strong fac-
ulty, daring to look beyond the ranks of trained teachers
to lure gifted artists and musicians to the school. Her
respect for every kind of intellectual pursuit sparked the
curiosity of the students and encouraged them toward
higher standards in their work. She taught history and
English classes, was passionate about great literature, and
inspired her students to love it, too. She directed plays,
introduced the children to country dancing, and carried on
the school traditions surrounding May Day and Christmas
while enlivening them with new forms of celebraton.
Though she occasionally corrected with a severity not apt
to be forgotten by the recipient, she much preferred per-
suasion. In conversations with parents and teachers about
the right way to educate children, her light touch took
nothing from the clarity of her message. “The group must
be small enough for the teacher and child to engage in that
intimate and human relationship known as teaching and
learning, for education by definition can only be an indi-
vidual matter. If we think of education in terms of mass
production, the children may go through schoolroom
after schoolroom for year after year and like a small boy

going through the bathtub, come out quite unaffected.”

Miss Seth-Smith chose the outdoors as her classroom. Her
skills as a scout leader were passed on to the upper school

girls who learned how to set up a camp for overnight

In the summer,
— Miss Seth-Smith
took Senior Girl

Scouts to
England; other
scouting trips

were in 1343,
1958, and 1955.

stays, pitch a tent, and stalk potential prey (mostly one
another.) The nickname “Stalkie” came to replace “Miss
Seth,” at least among the girls themselves. Establishing of
a sense of community within the school had been impor-
tant from the early foundation days; Miss Seth-Smith’s
scouting program enlarged on that tradition by prepating
the girls to serve the community beyond school walls.
After the war she led several groups of scouts on trips to
England where they offered service wherever they could.
She handled a mind-boggling list of tasks within the
school as well. She supervised maintenance of a building
in almost constant need of repair. She took care of the
ordering of all supplies including the food served to the
faculty and to the growing number of students who stayed
at school for lunch. She worked with contractors when
space had to be divided and divided again as enrollment
picked up. Most important, she was always available for
any child, teacher or parent who sought her out, perhaps
for a gentle word of advice or merely a2 moment’s tespite

in her small office.

While events of the war in Europe filled newspapers in
the United States beginning in 1939, life at home had, so
far, remained untouched. Support for the allies included
shipments of food and munitions, but Americans

remained deeply divided on

the question of sending
troops abroad. Nothing pre-

pared the average citizen for
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the 1941 attack on Pearl Harbor by the Japanese or the
immediate declaration of war on Japan and Germany that
followed. Suddenly, the City of Washington was trans-
formed by the arrival of workers needed to carry on the
business of waging full-scale war on two fronts, From
1941 to 1943, the number of government employees
increased from 134,000 to 281,000. Temporary office
buildings were put up on the National Mall, and private
housing was almost impossible to find. In his book
Washington Goes fo War, David Brinkley described a
changed city that “began to adjust to a new form of exis-
tence: more harried, more crowded, more contentious,
faster, lonelier, bigger. And while some of the strains of
wartime would subside when the fighting was over, the city

3

would never again live by its old rules . ...

The Potomac School did not remain untouched! In
“Memories of Potomac School,” a narrative written after
her retirement, Miss Preston recalled the steady stream of
parents who appeared in her office pleading that she make
room in the school for their children. Her response to the
need was typically energetic and accommodating: “We
would accept as many children as possible without violat-
ing the principles of small classes. We knocked down par-
titions, we put up temporary walls, and we utilized cubby-
holes” The school was crowded from the beginning to
the end of the War, and to the surprise of everyone, many
of the civilian and military families that had arrived in
1941 showed no interest in returning home. Enrollment at
the school remained high, the building had long since been

CALIFORNIA STREET
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expanded to its limits, and detetioration became more and
more obvious. Broken pipes led to flooding; the furnace
stopped working altogether. Talk began about moving to
a new site. The board’s finance chairman reported that the
school was out of debt and had invested $10,000, but cau-
tioned that those savings would certainly not pay for a new
school. Without quite knowing how they would purchase
it, the board of trustees nevertheless in 1945 began to

make the first discreet inquiries about property around
Washington.

At the outset, no thought was given to leaving the city.
Most of the students lived in northwest Washington, and
the search for property quite naturally began there.
Kalorama Park, Foxhall at 38th Street, Woodley, the Miller
property at Westmoreland and Loughboro, each of those
and many more were considered. Some of the sites lacked
the desired space for playgrounds; a few had been recom-
mended to the board as highly desirable, but were not on
the market; others would have required too much alter-
ation to serve as a school. The committee soon realized
that any property that the school could afford in
Washington was undesirable, and those that would work
were too expensive. Over the next two years, the search

-extended into Maryland and, finally, in 1948, into Virginia.

One of the Potomac trustees, William Mackall, whose
family had been among the earliest to settle in McLean,
Virginia, suggested several McLean properties that the

search committee might visit. One was the Ballantrae

Consteuction of the
main building began in
stages as a safeguard
if money ran out.
Emphasis was on
affordability and sim-
plicity, with rooms
designed to have natu-
ral light; every class-
room opened to the
outdoors.




estate which- offered, in addidon to a lovely old stone
house, a boundary on Chain Bridge Road, the major thor-
oughfare between Washington and McLean. Another pos-
sibility was the Kirby farm, a beautiful property of rolling
hills and wide fields reaching down to Pimmit Run. The
farm was set further back from Chain Bridge Road than
was Ballantrae, but the acreage was less expensive. The
board first considered purchasing only a modest parcel of
the Kirby tract, then voted to make an offer for the entire
55 available acres. After consultation with Miss Preston
and Miss Seth-Smith, the board opened negotiadons with
owner Ward Kirby and agreed to a price of $42,500 for
55.069 acres.

The decision had its detractors. One of the board mem-
bers resigned over what he considered a reckless undertak-
ing that would not succeed. Some of the parents were not
interested in sending their children on a long ride to
MclLean; others preferred that their children experience
life in the city, rather than in a rural setting. The board was
undaunted, and when the move to McLean was complet-
ed, only six of the enrolled families chose to stay in town,
and two of those returned once the school was perma-
nently settled.

A red brick field house built almost immediately after pur-
chase of the property served as a meeting place for the
scouts and as a changing room for the gitls who were driv-
en to and from McLean every day for sports. In the spring

of 1951, grades seven, eight and nine moved into a still

In the spring. Mrs.
Price moved out to the

— new Upper School wing
with the Upper School
girls. The first gradua-
tion on the Mclean
campus was that

spring.

unfinished wing of the building. Boards were laid at the
entrance to classrooms so that the girls could avoid the
worst of the mud and, to their amusement, the makeshift
walkways around the construction site were placed so that
the workmen’s colorful language would be kept at a prop-
er distance from the young ladies.

The rest of the school moved to the new site in the fall of
1951. Everyone reveled in the beauty and space offered in
MeLean, but leaving California Street with all its spirit and
warmth and loved traditions was hard. Miss Preston
turned to the trustees and teachers for help in easing the
students’ anxieties: “We made plans to hold the school
together, to maintain our values and traditions while
enjoying the flexibility, privacy and opportunity offered by
the ‘new school.”” The students were not alone in missing
the familiar intimacy of the old ways. At the first faculty
meeting held in the fall of 1951, Miss Preston again urged
the teachers to look to the future by reassuring them that,
“Nothing that matters has been left behind on California

Street.”

A new chapter in Potomac’s history had begun.
























































































Transportation Transformation

100 Years of Transportation at Potomac

oday it is hard to imagine The Potomac School
( E without its own transportation fleet, but for

the first 30 or so years of its existence,
Potomac had little need for it. Records show that for the
School’s first few years in Silver Spring, Maryland, Mrs.
Edith Blair hired a teacher from “Washington City”
who commuted north by trolley to conduct classes at

Falkland Mansion. The trolley system was unique
because its power source was an underground electrical

conduit, mandated by the city to avoid unsightly over-
head lines. Only Manhattan in New York City employed
a similar system at that time.

When the School moved to Dupont Circle in 1904, the
Model T Ford was still two years from production, so
students still relied on trolleys, horse-and-buggy rigs, or
their own feet for the daily commute to school. The
school’s relocation to the city, both at Dupont Circle
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and at 1200 18th Street, NW, two years later, not only made trans-
portation accessible for city residents but, also made the School
more appealing because of its proximity to potential students.

The School’s move to California Street, NW, in 1916 did not
immediately change its need for vehicles. In the 1930s, a
Monsieur deChauny was hired with his large black sedan to drive
students to and from such far-flung destinations as Chevy Chase
and Georgetown. By then the automobile was ubiquitous, but
Monsieur’s service provided parents with some relief from a daily
commute. Smoking a cigar, Potomac’s first driver would loudly
(but fortunately in French) curse the antics of the drivers around
him. A second driver was employed with a similar sedan during
the increase of the School’s student
population during World War II.

Perhaps prophetcally, the School
i purchased its first bus in September
1947, just one year before its pur-
chase of the McLean property. A
fragile letter in the archives, written
by the business manager, addresses
the District of Colombia govern-
ment and asks for a parking permit
for this large vehicle in what was
then a largely residental neighbor-
hood.

Once the Mclean property was
purchased, and before any build-
= ings existed, it was the School’s
intent to use the beautiful grounds
for sports activities, Mr. Irving
Seeley’s Indian course, and Miss
Helen Seth-Smith’s scouting pro-
| gram. This necessitated the pur-
“ chase of more buses for the com-
mute between California Street and

McLean. Because of the Korean War, at least one bus purchase
was delayed because of the demand for raw materials by the gov-
ernment. To the surprise of many, this far-away Virginia proper-
ty was not so far at all, especially when students could be con-

veyed there by bus.

When construction of the McLean property was completed in
1951, the School was now committed to the purchase and main-
tenance of a fleet of school buses to provide a vital service to its
expanding student population. Almost all of these vehicles head-
ed into Washington and fanned out to collect and deliver stu-
dents, many whose parents had attended classes at the California
Street location. They were also needed for transportation to
sports events around the Metro area. The minutes of a Board
meeting of October 11, 1954, record that “a gasoline pump and
tank had been installed so that we were able to get gas at whole-
sale prices.”

In the early 1970s the School owned 22 buses and vans. Presently,
it ownes 38 diesel buses, together with a plethora of vans and
pickup trucks. As the country’s demand for vehicles has grown,
so has the School’s.

In additon to Monsieur deChauny, names such as Joe Moore,
Pete Kittrell, Herbert Sheppard, Edith Wilkerson, and Libby and
Molly Shipp are all associated historically with the complex oper-
ation and maintenance of these vehicles. Many a student can
remember developing a rapport and friendship with these dedi-
cated people because they, as with everyone in the School, were
esteemed as valuable and contributing members of the commu-
nity.

Students today might be thrilled to ride a trolley to school as so
many did in the early days of The Potomac School. Over the next
100 years, that may again become a reality. In the meantime, one
can frequently see a large yellow bus in the Metro area, embla-
zoned with the Schools name, performing its duty as have its
predecessors for the last 50 years of the School’s existence.
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